THE BIOLOGICAL FOUNDATION OF CRITICAL HABITAT FOR SPECIES AT RISK: A LITERATURE REVIEW

DRAFT III FOR DISCUSSION PURPOSES ONLY: September 26, 2003

This draft document represents a synthesis of scientific literature on issues related to the biological foundation of critical habitat and was drafted for discussion purposes within the Critical Habitat Working Group.

Prepared by Melissa Vance Canadian Wildlife Service

Table of Contents

l.	Abstract	3
II.	Introduction	4
III.	What is habitat?	6
IV.	Criteria for characterising critical habitat	7
	Life history requirements	
	Primary biological needs	
	Variability	
	Community and ecosystem considerations	9
	Species interactions and ecological processes	9
	Co-evolved obligate relationships	
	Disturbance dynamics	
	Future shifts in species' habitat?	11
	Climate change	11
V.	From individual to population-level needs	12
	Population-level requirements	12
	Minimum habitat-amount requirements	12
	Extinction threshold	13
	Area sensitivity	
	Box 1: Population viability analysis	
	Margin for error and flexibility	
	Bigger habitat patches are better than smaller ones	
	Emergency habitat	
	Buffers	
	Redundancy of habitat patches is essential	
VI.	Importance of landscape-scale conservation	
	Box 2: Ecosystem and multi-species approaches	
	Landscape-scale issues	
	Matrix quality	
	Landscape connectivity	
	Habitat configuration	
	Landscape complementation	
VII.	Summary	22
	Implications for identifying critical habitat under SARA	
	Best scientific information	
	Guiding principles for critical habitat identification	
	Individual-level needs	22

Table of Contents Continued...

	Population-level needs	23
	Landscape-scale considerations	
VIII.	Acknowledgements	
IX.	References	25

I. Abstract

The identification of critical habitat for species at risk should be based on a strong biological foundation if it is to be effective in their protection and recovery. This review of the primary literature lays the groundwork for that foundation by synthesizing the scientific community's current understanding of habitat requirements for species at risk, and outlining the biological and ecological characteristics of critical habitat. This review is expected to help inform development of science policy relating to the identification of critical habitat and the implementation of the Federal Species at Risk Act.

The review covers three distinct, complimentary perspectives that are thought important to consider as part of the critical habitat identification process. The first perspective encompasses requirements of individuals. In this respect, critical habitat should comprise the mosaic of habitat types individuals need to complete their respective life cycles, including how habitat requirements may differ through the year, among age/sex classes and across geographic localities. Some thought should also be directed to species habitat requirements that stem from vital relationships with other species (e.g., obligate pollinators & seed dispersers) and disturbance processes (e.g., floods, fire).

The second perspective that should be considered in the identification of critical habitat are population-level requirements. Ideally, critical habitat should contain sufficient habitat to provide for a high likelihood of long-term population persistence, or viability. Narrowing habitat requirements down to a minimum amount is complicated by the fact that needs may vary according to matrix quality, fragmentation, reproductive rate, dispersal ability, etc. Further confounding minimum habitat-amount determinations include the existence of habitat extinction thresholds and time lags in species' response to habitat loss. Areasensitivity is another feature of critical habitat that should be viewed from a population perspective. While area-sensitivity is an individual-level phenomenon, the net effect of multiple individual responses may be population-level consequences (e.g., population sinks).

The final perspective that warrants attention in the identification of critical habitat is that afforded through the lens of landscape ecology. It is well recognised that population viability may be effected not only according to within-patch characteristics, but also to conditions of the surrounding landscape. For instance, the quality of the matrix, or nonhabitat portion of the landscape, can have a large effect on the amount of habitat required for long-term population persistence. This potentially has important management implications, since for many species increasing the quality of the matrix may be a more practical option than increasing the overall amount of critical habitat. Similarly, for species that persist in fragmented landscapes in which habitat patches are occupied by way of dispersal movements, the surrounding matrix can impact the ability of individuals to effectively move between habitat patches. Such inter-patch movements may be key to the survival of populations that exist as meta-populations, and elements of the landscape that allow species to maintain these inter-connections should be identified and included as critical habitat. In addition, both habitat configuration and landscape complementation may have important effects on population persistence and thus, should be evaluated in the identification of critical habitat. The importance of habitat configuration, or the spatial arrangement of habitat patches, may increase when the amount of habitat in the landscape is

low, as is the case for many species at risk. Habitat configuration may be especially important for species that that rely on landscape complementation, or more than one type of habitat, to complete their life history requirements.

II. Introduction

Biologists disagree about many things, but one thing they agree on is the importance of habitat to species' conservation. Organisms cannot exist in isolation; species-specific habitats, for all stages of their life cycle, are essential to their survival. The importance of these species-specific habitat requirements, in addition to the negative effect of habitat loss and degradation due to anthropogenic activities, is recognized in the federal Species at Risk Act (SARA; Species at Risk Act 2003). SARA calls for the identification and protection of a species' critical habitat. Within the Act, critical habitat is defined as:

the habitat that is necessary for the survival or recovery of a listed wildlife species and that is identified as the species' critical habitat in the recovery strategy or in an action plan for the species [s. 2(1)].

SARA requires the identification of critical habitat during the recovery planning process for listed endangered, threatened and extirpated species. Most often, critical habitat should include the habitat required for full recovery and eventual de-listing of a species at risk. However it should be recognised that for some species, such as those that have always had a very limited range (e.g., Banff Springs Snail), full recovery and de-listing may never be possible. Further, for some species it may be determined that recovery is not technically and biologically feasible (see SARA, s. 40). For these species, critical habitat may provide for mere survival.

SARA's provisions for the protection of a species' critical habitat recognise the importance of species-specific habitat for conservation and recovery. Understanding these habitat requirements is especially important for species at risk, as loss and modification of their habitat is often one of the main reasons species are designated as being at risk in the first place (Ehrlich and Ehrlich 1981, Groombridge 1992, Wilson 1992, Noss et al. 1997, Lande 1998). Thus, to facilitate the recovery of listed species it is imperative to have an understanding of the specific physical and biological habitat attributes on which to focus protection efforts. Identification and protection of species' critical habitat, in combination with identification and mitigation of the threats to species' survival, will form the backbone of recovery for species at risk under SARA.

The purpose of this literature review is to survey and synthesise the scientific community's current understanding of habitat requirements for species at risk, including the ecological and biological characteristics of critical habitat. This synthesis will inform the development of science policy relating to the identification of critical habitat and the implementation of SARA. Admittedly, this review draws from literature focused on terrestrial organisms, though many concepts discussed herein also apply to species in aquatic environments. Fisheries and Oceans Canada is undergoing similar exercises for identifying critical habitat in the aquatic realm, and as a starting point please refer to a paper by Phelps (2001).

This review is based on a survey of the primary literature. With the exception of a few key books and articles, the majority of papers included in this analysis were published between the years 1990 and 2003. Therefore, concepts and principles discussed herein represent the current understanding of the scientific community, and are based on results from both empirical and theoretical research. Several fields of study were investigated, ranging from habitat biology to population biology and landscape ecology, and the papers included in this analysis cover a wide variety of topics related to the biological meaning of critical habitat. Review papers that summarise the current state of knowledge in a particular subject area were included whenever possible. Also included, are articles related to the implementation of the Endangered Species Act (ESA) by the U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS), especially papers that pertain to critical habitat (Endangered Species Act 1988).

This paper is divided into five main sections. In the first section the term *habitat* is discussed, including an examination of the various definitions of habitat found throughout the literature and the importance of using standard terminology. In addition, the legal definition of habitat under SARA is presented as well as an operational definition of habitat from the literature, recognising that a clear understanding of what is meant by a species' habitat is essential to identifying and protecting critical habitat.

Section two begins to examine the biological meaning of critical habitat by proposing species' life histories as a framework for defining the criteria that could be considered for individual organisms. This section explores these life history requirements, and the need for critical habitat to encompass the different habitats that a species requires for fulfilling its life history functions. Demographic and temporal differences in habitat use are discussed, as well as the value of incorporating essential ecological processes and important life history relationships into a species' critical habitat. In addition, spatio-temporal shifts in habitat are discussed, along with their implications for identifying critical habitat.

The third section moves from the individual-level to the population-level, and examines biological considerations of critical habitat that are specific to populations. This section focuses on area-sensitivity, as well as species-specific minimum habitat requirements and factors that are thought to influence these quantitative requirements. A distinction is made between individual-level area requirements and population-level area requirements, as critical habitat is identified as a population-level requirement. Other population-level phenomena are discussed, including the need to incorporate flexibility and redundancy into a species' critical habitat.

Landscape-scale issues are discussed in section four, which begins with a brief overview of what a landscape is, and why landscape-scale issues are important to consider when identifying critical habitat. Several topics are discussed including matrix quality, landscape connectivity, habitat configuration and landscape complementation.

The fifth and concluding section synthesises the biological considerations outlined in this review, and discusses their implications for the development of guidelines for identifying critical habitat under SARA.

In addition to the five main sections that explore the biological considerations of critical habitat, there are two additional topics discussed in this review paper. While these topics are

not directly related to the biological meaning of critical habitat, they are nonetheless significant as they lead to important insights about critical habitat and its identification. First, the application of population viability analysis (PVA) to the identification of critical habitat for species at risk is discussed in Box 1. In this segment, a brief introduction to PVA is followed by an exploration of how PVA may be useful for the identification of critical habitat, and recovery planning in general. In addition, the criticisms and potential limiting factors of PVA are discussed.

Box 2 briefly examines the use of broad-scale recovery strategies for species at risk. SARA's provision for the development of multi-species and ecosystem-based recovery strategies (s. 41(3)) is discussed, along with the critical habitat requirements for individual species.

III. What is habitat?

The importance of habitat to species' conservation is well supported by the scientific community. However, the term *habitat* has been used loosely in the literature; definitions of habitat have ranged from a general association with a particular type of vegetation, to a detailed description of a species' immediate surroundings (Hall et al. 1997). This inconsistency has led to a call for a consistent and clear operational definition of the term *habitat* (Murphy and Noon 1991, Hall et al. 1997). As such, Hall et al. (1997) offer the following operational definition of habitat:

The resources and conditions present in an area that produce occupancy — including survival and reproduction — by a given organism.

Under this definition, habitat includes both the biological and physical characteristics of an area that provide an organism with the resources it needs to survive. In other words, habitat is the sum of the biotic and abiotic environment, as well as their interactions, which allow an organism to fulfil its life history functions.

The definition proposed by Hall et al. (1997) is similar in meaning to the definition of habitat found in SARA, although SARA defines habitat slightly more broadly (see below):

(a) in respect of aquatic species, spawning grounds and nursery, rearing, food supply, migration and any other areas on which aquatic species depend directly or indirectly in order to carry out their life processes, or areas where aquatic species formerly occurred and have the potential to be reintroduced; and (b) in respect of other wildlife species, the area or type of site where an individual or wildlife species naturally occurs or depends on directly or indirectly in order to carry out its life processes or formerly occurred and has the potential to be reintroduced [s. 2(1)].

The definition of habitat found in SARA includes not only the areas that a species depends on directly to carry out its life processes, but also the areas that a species depends on indirectly and the areas in which the species has the potential to be reintroduced. This broader definition of habitat has implications for the identification of critical habitat; a clear understanding of what is meant by habitat is crucial to understanding what constitutes critical habitat, as critical habitat is the *habitat* that is necessary for the survival or recovery of a listed wildlife species. With this clarification of terms, an exploration of the biological

considerations of critical habitat for species at risk is possible. The following section begins to outline some of these biological considerations, by summarising what critical habitat means to individual organisms.

IV. Criteria for characterising critical habitat

Life history requirements

Primary biological needs

An individual's ability to complete its life history functions, and thus contribute to population persistence, is at least partly dependent on the availability of the appropriate habitat. The primary biological needs (i.e., key life history stages and activities) that may be considered when attempting to identify critical habitat for a particular species include, but are not necessarily limited to: (1) reproduction (e.g., rutting, courtship, mating, pollination, spawning, nest/den/burrow/cavity construction, egg-laying, gestation/incubation, germination, brood rearing/fledging); (2) cover/shelter/refugia; (3) feeding/foraging; (4) basking/roosting/loafing; (5) dispersal (e.g., seed dispersal, larval dispersal, natal dispersal, breeding dispersal); (6) moulting/pupation/metamorphosis; (7) hibernation/estivation/diapause; and (8) migration. When specific habitats, or habitat elements, are required to successfully perform one or more of these primary biological needs, that habitat should form a component of the species' critical habitat.

In addition to identifying specific habitat features or elements associated with a species' life history, it may also be useful to identify sensitive stages in the life cycle that may require special attention. For the threatened Eastern Spiny Softshell Turtle (*Apalone spinifera*), nesting is an example of a life cycle stage that may require specific consideration. This species reaches sexual maturity at a late age (12 years), and produces only one clutch per year (Campbell and Donaldson 1991). During nesting, females often congregate on the same areas of shoreline, and these areas are threatened by a variety of factors such as pollution, recreation, predation, and construction (Campbell and Donaldson 1991). For this species, these traditional nesting sites may be a particularly important component of its critical habitat because their destruction could have significant negative impacts on the population. Critical habitat for the Spiny Softshell Turtle should take into account the habitat requirements for this vulnerable nesting stage.

Variability

The habitat that an organism requires for completing its life history functions may vary both temporally, and between different demographic groups. The following examples illustrate the importance of considering demographic (age/stage, sex) and temporal (daily, seasonal) differences in habitat requirements when identifying critical habitat for species at risk. These

differences should be considered when characterising the habitat required by a species to complete its life history.

The need for a reasonable understanding of a species' life history is apparent for species whose habitat requirements vary temporally. For example, seasonal differences in habitat use occur in the Northern Leopard Frog (*Rana pipiens*) which is designated as endangered in the Southern Mountain population and special concern in the Western Boreal / Prairie populations. The Northern Leopard Frog requires three different habitats to complete its life cycle, including: (1) temporary ponds for reproduction and tadpole development in the spring; (2) grassy fields used by juveniles and adults for foraging throughout the summer; and (3) ponds or streams that do not freeze solid for overwintering (Pope et al. 2000). Loss or degradation of any one of these habitats may result in local extinction if alternative habitat is not available within the dispersal distance capabilities of the Leopard Frog.

As well as seasonal variation in habitat use, some species may use different types of habitat on a daily basis. The threatened Pallid Bat (*Antrozous pallidus*) of British Columbia for example undergoes daily movement between its daytime roosting habitat in crevices along steep cliffs and rock faces, to its night time feeding habitat in open grasslands and sagebrush (Willis and Bast 1999). The loss of either of these habitats (or an inability to move between them) may have negative effects on population persistence, especially if fidelity to roosting sites is high. Temporal differences in habitat requirements should be considered when identifying critical habitat for a species at risk.

In addition to temporal differences in habitat requirements, there may also be differences between different demographic groups of the same species; habitat requirements may vary between males and females, as well as between individuals in different age or stage classes. For example, gravid (i.e., pregnant) females of the Massasauga (Sistrurus catenatus catenatus), which is designated as threatened in Canada, have very different habitat requirements than males and non-gravid females. Gravid females congregate on rocky outcrops during gestation, whereas males and non-gravid females use more structurally diverse habitats such as mixed forests, grassy shrublands, and beaver meadows (Prior et al. 2002). The threatened Jefferson Salamander (Ambystoma jeffersonianum) is a species for which habitat requirements differ between stage classes. The Jefferson Salamander breeds in ephemeral ponds during early spring and the larval salamanders remain in these ponds, feeding on microcrustaceans, until metamorphosis occurs. The adults on the other hand, leave the breeding ponds and move into deciduous forests where they feed on terrestrial invertebrates (Rye and Weller 2002). Failure to recognise these differences in life history habitat requirements may result in the omission of one or more required habitat features or components in a species critical habitat. Understanding the life history requirements of a species at risk, including the link to required habitat elements, is fundamental to the comprehensive identification of its critical habitat.

Community and ecosystem considerations

Species interactions and ecological processes

While SARA focuses on the survival or recovery of individual species at risk, species ultimately exist as part of functioning communities and ecosystems. Therefore, it is important to look at the larger context by understanding the biotic (e.g., food webs, mutualisms, keystone species) and abiotic (e.g., disturbance regimes) environment in which the species lives; to achieve survival or recovery of species at risk, consideration should be paid to both species interactions and ecosystem context. While it is virtually impossible to incorporate all species interactions and abiotic processes into a species' critical habitat, it is important to identify, and make provisions for, the essential and potentially limiting factors. Listed below are several examples of the types of species interactions and ecological processes that should be considered when identifying critical habitat for a species at risk.

Co-evolved obligate relationships

The identification of critical habitat for some plants may require special consideration, because many plant species are dependent on other species for reproduction and dispersal. An endangered or threatened plant will be unable to reproduce and recover if their critical pollinators or seed dispersers are limiting. The threatened Soapweed (Yucca glauca), which occurs at the northern edge of its range in southern Alberta, is an example of a plant species whose geographical range in Canada may be limited by its obligate pollinator, the endangered Yucca Moth (Tegeticula yuccasella) (Csotonyi and Hurlburt 2000). When identifying critical habitat for plants that are dependent on pollinators and seed dispersers for survival, the habitat requirements of these pollinating and dispersing organisms should also be considered (Allen-Wardell et al. 1998). This is especially important if pollination or dispersal is found to be a limiting factor in the species' recovery, as is the case for Soapweed. The obligate mutualistic relationship between the Yucca Moth and Soapweed is unique; not only is Soapweed dependent on the Yucca Moth for pollination, but the Yucca Moth is also dependent on Soapweed as it is the only known host for the developing Yucca Caterpillar (Csotonyi and Hurlburt 2000). Therefore, because Soapweed cannot survive without the Yucca Moth and vice versa, critical habitat should consider the habitat requirements of both species. Preliminary studies may be required to determine the important pollinators and seed dispersers of some of the plant species at risk, as knowledge about dispersal and pollination is limited for many species (Kearns and Inouye 1997, Allen-Wardell et al. 1998).

Like plants, many species of freshwater mussels are dependent on other organisms to complete their life cycle. Young mussel larvae (i.e., glochidia) attach to the gills or fins of specific host fish, where they live as parasites for a few weeks of their life cycle (McMahon 1991, Haag and Warren 1999). The endangered Mudpuppy Mussel (Simpsonais ambigua) is unique in that its larvae attach to an amphibian host, the Mudpuppy Salamander (Necturus maculosus) (Watson et al. 2001). For species such as the Mudpuppy Mussel, which are dependent on specific hosts for larval dispersal, the habitat requirements of the host species should be considered as a potential component of the mussel's critical habitat, especially if host availability is found to be a limiting factor in the mussel's recovery. Because this is an obligate, parasitic relationship for the mussel, their conservation is intimately linked with the

host's survival. As with many plants, further research is required to determine the specific hosts for many freshwater mussels (McMahon 1991).

Disturbance dynamics

Critical habitat is dynamic for species that depend on natural disturbance regimes to maintain their preferred habitat. The northern Great Plains breeding population of the Piping Plover (Charadrius melodus), which is listed as threatened in the U.S., is dependent upon alkali lakes, ephemeral prairie wetlands, and rivers for breeding (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 2001). Annual fluctuation in precipitation and river flow cause water levels in the Piping Plover nesting grounds to vary considerably between years. Due to the dynamic nature of these hydrological systems, the locations of appropriate breeding sites change from year to year (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 2001). The endangered Eastern Loggerhead Shrike (Lanius ludovicianus migrans) is another example of a species whose habitat shifts in space over time. This species depends on periodic disturbance to maintain its preferred habitat, which consists of pastureland/open areas with a few trees and shrubs dispersed in the landscape (Cadman 1991). Similarly many grassland plants, such as the endangered Small White Lady's Slipper (Cypripedium candidum), are dependent on fire to prevent the encroachment of woody species into their preferred open grassland habitat (Brownell 1981). This dependence on disturbance-maintained habitat results in habitat patches that are not fixed in space and time. When identifying critical habitat for these species, allowances should be made to accommodate this shifting of habitat patches to the extent possible. As a result, not all areas that are identified as critical habitat may contain the required key habitat attributes in every year. Rather, critical habitat may comprise a mosaic of landscape patches, such that sufficient habitat patches occur at any point in time.

The most ecologically meaningful way to accommodate geographically shifting habitat patches is to incorporate, to the extent possible, the natural processes (e.g., fire, flood) in which the species evolved into the critical habitat. Ideally, identifying critical habitat in this way should allow for natural disturbance processes to continue, even if these processes sometimes originate from outside of occupied areas. SARA allows for the inclusion of these processes in a species' critical habitat by including in the definition of habitat, "...the area or type of site where an individual or wildlife species naturally occurs or *depends on directly or indirectly* in order to carry out its life processes." Even though a species may not occur in a particular area, it may still be considered critical habitat if the species directly or indirectly depends on that area in order to carry out its life processes (e.g., external processes such as periodic flooding maintaining a species' habitat). Therefore, it is important to look at an appropriate spatial and temporal scale in order to capture enough critical habitat to accommodate the species through time. The above examples illustrate the importance of understanding the life history of a species at risk, and the natural processes of its habitat, when identifying critical habitat.

In some areas, natural disturbance regimes no longer occur because the landscapes have been dramatically altered. Therefore, while historically the habitat for some species naturally shifted in space over time, today many of these species are dependent on active management to maintain their required habitats (Allen and Hoekstra 1992, Noss and Cooperrider 1994). In reality, therefore, their habitat may be more spatially fixed over time. For these species, critical habitat should be identified in places that fall and, if required for survival or recovery, could

potentially fall (with restoration) under these active management areas. The Garry Oak and associated ecosystems in southern British Columbia is an example of an ecosystem that requires active management. The extent of the Garry Oak ecosystem has been severely reduced over the past few decades, mainly as a result of conversion to urban and agricultural land uses (Fuchs et al. 2002). This reduction in area has resulted in a disruption of the natural fire regime that historically maintained the Garry Oak ecosystem, by preventing the encroachment of Douglas-Fir forests. The Garry Oak ecosystems recovery team is currently investigating the impacts of different management actions (e.g., fire, manual removal of exotics and woody species) on plant community structure, including the distribution of species at risk, and stand dynamics (Fuchs et al. 2002).

Future shifts in species' habitat?

Climate change

Climate change is another phenomenon that is likely to cause shifts in species' habitats and distributions over time. The current global warming trend is predicted to result in species distributions shifting both to higher elevations, and to higher latitudes (i.e., toward the poles), a response due in part to shifts in habitat (Hughes 2000). Several studies have already documented these geographical range shifts. For example, Parmesan et al. (1999) investigated range shifts in 35 non-migratory European butterfly species. They found that the geographical range of 22 species shifted northwards by 35-240 km during this century. In contrast, only two species were found to have a southward range shift, and 10 species had no significant shift in geographical distribution.

In general, most documented range shifts have occurred in species that either have a very mobile phase in their life cycle, or species whose distributions are clearly restricted by climate (Hughes 2000). Unfortunately predicting these shifts is very difficult, as it depends on various interacting factors such as a species' dispersal ability, its capacity to adapt to new conditions, changes in the timing of life cycle events, and interactions with other organisms (Hughes 2000). Additionally, it is unlikely that all aspects of a species' habitat will respond uniformly to climate change. While some species may benefit from global warming, others will certainly be harmed by it (Pimm 2001, Warren et al. 2001). Species with smaller geographical ranges, such as many species at risk, are more likely to be negatively affected by climate change as they have far fewer populations to try to adapt to, or track, the changing climatic conditions (Pimm 2001).

In the future, climate change is expected to amplify the dynamic nature of ecosystems and habitat. If geographical range shifts continue to occur, critical habitat will need to be revised over time as species' ranges push northwards and/or toward higher elevations. A further result of these northward range shifts is that many species that do not currently occur in Canada may do so in the future. Additionally, for many species at risk whose northern geographical range limits cross into Canada, what may be considered marginal habitat today could be considered core habitat in the future. Thus, protecting habitat at the edge of a species' geographical range may be important, even if the habitat is currently considered to be of marginal quality. In Canada, the habitat at the northern edge of the range may also be important for species that have experienced severe habitat loss, due to high levels of human

settlement in the United States, in the core of their range. The Massasauga (Sistrurus catenatus catenatus), which is designated as threatened, is an example of a sub-species for which populations at the northern edge of its range are extremely important for its recovery and conservation (Prior et al. 2002). The populations in the Bruce Peninsula and Georgian Bay areas of southern Ontario are amongst the largest and healthiest populations throughout the sub-species' geographical range, while many of the U.S. populations, in the core of its range, are small and isolated (Prior et al. 2002). The northernmost populations of the Massasauga, therefore, could play a major role in the sub-species conservation.

V. From individual to population needs

Population-level requirements

In addition to understanding how particular habitat attributes affect the suitability of an area for a species, consideration should also be paid to how area requirements affect suitability. The simple presence of essential habitat features is not sufficient, since they must also be adequate in number or amount to support a population. Too few or small an area and the population will decline.

It is important to distinguish between individual-level area requirements, and population-level area requirements. An individual-level area requirement is the amount of habitat required for an individual, or a breeding pair. A population-level area requirement is the amount of habitat that is able to support a population that is large enough to have long-term viability. Calculations of area requirements for the purpose of identifying critical habitat should be based on the amount of habitat required for long-term population persistence, and not just on the amount required for individual occurrences or individual reproductive events (Hayden et al. 1985, Soulé 1987, Wenny et al. 1993).

Minimum habitat-amount requirements

The proportion of suitable habitat in a landscape necessary to maintain viable populations is not constant across species or across regions (Kareiva and Wennergren 1995, Bascompte and Solé 1996, Doncaster et al. 1996, Gibbs 1998, With and King 1999, Fahrig 2001). Modelling studies suggest that these minimum habitat-amount requirements depend on landscape factors such as the quality of the matrix or non-habitat portion of the landscape (Fahrig 2001), and the pattern (i.e., fragmentation) of habitat destruction (Dytham 1995, With and King 1999, Fahrig 2001). Minimum habitat requirements are predicted to increase with decreasing matrix quality, such that more habitat is required for population persistence when the matrix quality is low (Fahrig 2001). Increasing the quality of the matrix, therefore, may have a positive effect on population persistence. Similarly, minimum habitat requirements are predicted to increase with an increase in habitat fragmentation. Populations in highly fragmented landscapes, therefore, may require more habitat for long-term population persistence than populations in less fragmented landscapes (Dytham 1995, With and King 1999, Fahrig 2001).

In addition to landscape factors, modelling studies also predict that minimum habitatamount requirements depend on species characteristics such as reproductive rate (Lande 1987, With and King 1999, Fahrig 2001), dispersal ability (Lande 1987, Dytham 1995, Hanski et al. 1996, With and King 1999), and the rate of emigration from habitat patches (Fahrig 2001). Minimum habitat requirements are predicted to increase with a decreasing reproductive rate, such that species with lower reproductive rates require more habitat for population persistence than species with higher reproductive rates. This is because species with higher reproductive rates can recover more quickly from low population numbers caused by environmental disturbance, disease, or predation, and thus they are less likely to go extinct due to demographic stochasticity (Goodman 1987, Pimm et al. 1988). Minimum habitat requirements are also predicted to increase with decreasing dispersal ability, such that species that are less able to move through the landscape and colonise new habitat patches require more habitat for population persistence than species that have a greater ability to colonise new habitat patches. Finally, minimum habitat requirements are predicted to increase for species with a higher tendency to leave habitat patches and enter the matrix (i.e., high rate of emigration). While historically this may have had a positive effect on population persistence through recolonisation of empty habitat patches, in today's altered landscapes mortality rates are often high in the matrix, and therefore higher emigration rates may actually be detrimental to the population. Carr and Fahrig (2001), for example, found a negative relationship between population abundance and traffic density (a surrogate for traffic mortality) for the more vagile leopard frog (Rana pipiens), but found no such relationship for the less vagile green frog (Rana clamitans). These results suggest that higher mortality in the matrix may have a negative effect on population dynamics and that species with higher vagility may be more susceptible to these negative influences. Gibbs (1998) also supports the model prediction with his comparative analysis of the distribution of five woodland amphibians along a forest cover gradient. He found that species with a high level of mobility were more sensitive to forest loss, and thus disappeared from the landscape earlier, than species with a low level of mobility. In contrast, Holland's (2003) study on Cerambycid beetles showed species that emigrate from forest habitat patches required less habitat for population persistence (i.e., a lower extinction threshold; see below) than nonemigrating species. Interestingly however, the matrix in this study is not very hostile to the study species and thus does not likely represent a large source of mortality. In landscapes undergoing habitat loss and fragmentation, the advantage of high versus low levels of vagility for population persistence is dependent on the levels of mortality in the intervening matrix.

Modelling studies, like the ones discussed above, are valuable for investigating the relative effects of both species and landscape characteristics on population persistence, but they are unable to provide actual minimum habitat-amount requirements. A prediction of minimum habitat-amount requirements for real species requires models that are specifically tailored to the species in question.

Extinction Threshold

Modelling studies also predict the existence of species-specific habitat extinction thresholds for population persistence, whereby a small reduction in habitat at the threshold results in a sharp drop in the probability of persistence (Lande 1987, Bascompte and Solé 1996, Pagel and Payne 1996, Bevers and Flather 1999, With and King 1999, Fahrig 2001). Empirically the detection of extinction thresholds is much more difficult, because while modelling

studies are closed to immigration, in reality landscapes are open to immigration. Immigration causes the thresholds to dampen, therefore making them more difficult to detect empirically (Vance 2002, Flather et al. in prep.). In addition, immigration into the landscape results in an underestimation of the amount of habitat required for population persistence (Pagel and Payne 1996, Flather et al. in prep.). The identification of habitat extinction thresholds is further complicated by the existence of time lags in species extinction (Tilman et al. 1994, Eriksson and Kiviniemi 1999). The current presence of a species or a population does not necessarily mean there is enough habitat for long-term persistence.

A term that is closely related to minimum habitat requirements is population viability. Population viability refers to the probability that a population of a particular species will survive over some (subjective) time period, given the population size and characteristics, and the threats to its survival (Gilpin and Soulé 1986, Soulé 1987). The amount of habitat required for a population's long-term viability is then called the minimum habitat requirement.

A species' viability can be measured using one of a diverse set of methods known collectively as viability assessments (see Andelman et al. 2001). Viability assessments are extremely useful recovery management tools, and can potentially be used to determine if the amount and configuration of critical habitat is adequate for species' survival or recovery. Population viability analysis (PVA) is one form of viability assessment that may be used to give insight into the question of how much habitat is required for population persistence. PVA, and its application for the identification of critical habitat for species at risk, is explored in Box 1.

Area sensitivity

Area-sensitive species are those species that have varying levels of tolerance to habitat fragmentation and its resultant decrease in patch size. Area-sensitivity is an individual-level phenomenon. However, in combination these individual responses to area can result in population-level effects. It is well know that many species of forest birds (Whitcomb et al. 1981, Hayden et al. 1985, Robbins et al. 1989, Porneluzi et al. 1993, Wenny et al. 1993) and grassland birds (Walk and Warner 1999, Winter and Faaborg 1999, Johnson and Igl 2001) are area-sensitive. However, area-sensitivity has also been observed in other organisms including the dormouse (*Muscardinus avellanarius*) (Bright et al. 1994) and the American marten (*Martes americana*) (Chapin et al. 1998).

Winter and Faaborg (1999) identified three different types of area sensitivity in their study of grassland-nesting birds in south-western Missouri. The most area-sensitive species was the Greater Prairie Chicken (*Tympanuchus cupido*) which was absent from all grassland fragments less than 77 ha. The Henslow's Sparrow (*Ammodramus henslowii*) displayed an intermediate type of area-sensitivity, occurring at lower densities in smaller fragments and higher densities in larger fragments. In addition to these two types of distributional area-sensitivity they also identified a demographic-level area-sensitivity, where nesting success was found to be lower in smaller grassland fragments (Winter and Faaborg 1999). Similar demographic-level area-sensitivity has also been reported for forest birds (Porneluzi et al. 1993, Villard et al. 1993, Donovan et al. 1995, Robinson et al. 1995).

Box 1. Population viability analysis

Population viability analysis (PVA) is a computer-based, quantitative modelling tool that is used to explore either a population's extinction probability over some specified time period, or its projected population growth under proposed management scenarios (Boyce 1992, Beissinger and Westphal 1998, Reed et al. 2002). There are no set rules about what comprises a PVA; each PVA is unique. This is because a PVA's structure depends on several factors such as: the essential components of a species' ecology that affect its extinction probability, the availability of data, the question(s) being addressed, and the experience of the modellers (Boyce 1992). In general, PVA uses demographic data and other life history and environmental information to parameterise a model that is then used to predict the size and structure of the population, or risk of extinction, at some point in the future. While PVA is closely linked to the idea of a minimum viable population (MVP), it does not attempt to estimate the 'true' minimum number of individuals required for long-term population persistence (Soulé 1987). Determining the MVP is unrealistic for most species because of the enormous amount of data that are required to accurately estimate the necessary parameters (Boyce 1992, Beissinger and Westphal 1998, Reed et al. 2002).

Use of PVA

The use of PVA is becoming more prevalent in the management of species at risk, as it offers a very powerful way to integrate various types of data, and explore potential management options. Beissinger and Westphal (1998), and Coulson et al. (2001) list several ways in which PVA is used in wildlife management: (1) to predict the future size of a population; (2) to estimate the probability of a population going extinct over a given time; (3) to develop the criteria for recovery; (4) to classify a species' risk category; (5) to assess which of a suite of management or conservation strategies is likely to maximise the probability of a population persisting; (6) to evaluate research priorities; and (7) to explore the consequences of different assumptions on population dynamics for small populations.

Using PVA for identifying critical habitat

Option number five represents the most appropriate way that PVA can be used with respect to identifying critical habitat. PVA can be used to model the effects of changes to a species' habitat, and to evaluate various approaches to managing this habitat (Boyce 1992). For critical habitat, a PVA can be used to investigate how different amounts of habitat, or their spatial configuration in the landscape, affect a population's viability. The goal of PVA should not be to predict the actual probability of population extinction or the actual population growth rate (Boyce 1992, Beissinger and Westphal 1998, Reed et al. 2002). There is always a potential for error in measuring the model parameters, and therefore any predictions from a PVA is likely to have a large degree of uncertainty associated with it (Ellner et al. 2002). A more valuable output of a PVA that models different amounts and configurations of critical habitat is the ranking of different options to see which produces the most favourable population trajectory, or extinction probability (Boyce 1992, Beissinger and Westphal 1998, Reed et al. 2002).

Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis is an important component of any PVA. A sensitivity analysis is conducted by varying certain model parameters, and then studying the model's response, to determine which parameters have the largest effect on model predictions (Boyce 1992, Beissinger and Westphal 1998, Reed et al. 2002). If a particular parameter is found to have a large effect on model predictions, and there is a simultaneous large natural variation in that parameter, then this would help identify potential management strategies or suggest possible recovery action options that could be carried out to try and improve population trajectories for the species in question (Reed et al. 1998). For example, Lande (1988) used sensitivity analysis to determine that annual adult survivorship has the largest effect on the annual growth rate of the Northern Spotted Owl (*Strix occidentalis caurina*). This information was then used to help guide management efforts to focus on improving adult survival for the Northern Spotted Owl. Identifying which parameters have the largest effect on model predictions will also help direct research to the parameters for which we need to obtain accurate, habitat-specific measurements, and the parameters for which more accurate measurements are not as important because of their lesser effect on population viability (Lande 1988, Beissinger and Westphal 1998, Reed et al. 1998).

Box 1 continued...

Criticisms and/or limitations of population viability analysis

While PVA is an extremely powerful conservation tool, biologists and resource managers need to fully understand its limitations in order to avoid misinterpreting the results (Boyce 1992, Brook et al. 2002, Reed et al. 2002). There are many papers that examine the use of PVA in conservation biology, and discuss its limitations. Some of the criticisms and shortcomings of PVA include:

- Predictive accuracy of PVA is generally low (Beissinger and Westphal 1998, Reed et al. 1998, Ludwig 1999, Coulson et al. 2001, Ellner et al. 2002)
 - → Many types of PVA have large species-specific data requirements that often aren't available, especially for species at risk, or are difficult to measure (e.g., dispersal processes) (Boyce 1992, Beissinger and Westphal 1998, Menges 2000, Coulson et al. 2001, Reed et al. 2002).
 - → Quality of data used to estimate species' vital rates for use in a PVA is often poor because it is not based on adequate field studies. This can cause large errors in these vital rate estimates, which in turn creates model prediction errors (Beissinger and Westphal 1998, Ludwig 1999, Menges 2000, Coulson et al. 2001).
- Catastrophic events have a large effect on population numbers, but little is known about the scale or frequency of catastrophes for particular species, and thus they aren't often included in PVA (Beissinger and Westphal 1998, Ludwig 1999, Coulson et al. 2001, Reed et al. 2002).
- For species at risk it is difficult to validate the model when all of the existing data is used to parameterise the model, as is often the case (Beissinger and Westphal 1998, Coulson et al. 2001).
- PVA is usually limited to a single-species focus, because for most species we don't understand multi-species processes well enough to incorporate them into a PVA. For most species, this results in an unrealistic depiction of what is regulating population growth (Boyce 1992).
- Mechanisms regulating population size are often looked at separately, thus ignoring possible interactions/synergisms between the mechanisms (Gilpin and Soulé 1986, Boyce 1992).

While there is a possibility that the predictions of a PVA may be misinterpreted, or may not produce the desired level of accuracy, this does not mean they should be dispensed with entirely. PVA is best thought of as a comparative, adaptive management tool. All available information about a species is used to parameterise the model, and the model is run to compare the predictions under various management scenarios (Beissinger and Westphal 1998, Brook et al. 2002). The chosen management action(s) should then be monitored so that the data can be used to improve and update the PVA in an adaptive fashion (Menges 2000). As a general rule, demographic PVA models and alternative management strategies should be linked by performing field tests of the model's assumptions (e.g., carrying capacity, density dependence), and validating the model's secondary predictions (e.g., distribution of individuals) through field work (Beissinger and Westphal 1998).

This has been a fairly brief exploration of the use of PVA. Even though PVA is a relatively recent tool, there is a wealth of literature available on the subject. If you are interested in learning more about PVA, the following list of books and review papers explore its use in species management: Boyce 1992, Burgman et al. 1993, Beissinger and Westphal 1998, Menges 2000, Beissinger and McCullough 2002.

The above studies illustrate how relying solely on census data (e.g., presence/absence and/or abundance) as a measure of habitat quality, or to determine a species' area-sensitivity, may be misleading. Species that do not exhibit area-sensitivity with respect to density may do so on a demographic level (Winter and Faaborg 1999, Donovan and Lamberson 2001). Similarly, areas of high density do not necessarily have correspondingly high nesting success, and thus may not represent high-quality habitat (Van Horne 1983, Pulliam 1988, Vickery et al. 1992, Purcell and Verner 1998). Habitats where local reproduction is not able to compensate for local mortality are known as sink habitats and, conversely, habitats where local reproduction is equal to or greater than local mortality are known as source habitats (Pulliam 1988). To prevent local extinction, sink habitats are therefore dependent on immigration from source habitats (Brown and Kodric-Brown 1977, Pulliam 1988). When identifying critical habitat for species at risk it is important to consider potential source and sink habitats, and it is vital that the more productive source areas be included as critical habitat (Carroll et al. 1996, Gaston et al. 2002). However, sink habitats aren't necessarily unimportant as they may serve as valuable connections between disjunct source areas (Noss 2002), and may increase the overall size and persistence probability of a metapopulation (Gaston et al. 2002).

Identifying potential source and sink habitats will require not only a measure of density in that habitat, but also a measure of reproductive success (e.g., number of young produced); a positive relationship between habitat quality and density should not automatically be assumed (Van Horne 1983). There are several documented cases where density was found to be higher in lower quality habitats. For example, discrepancy between density and habitat quality has been shown for species that display intraspecific social dominance, whereby the adults force juveniles out of the higher quality habitats where reproductive success is high, into the lower quality habitats where reproductive success is low. These dominance interactions can result in the uncoupling of density and habitat quality, and this uncoupling has been documented for several small mammal and bird species (Van Horne 1983).

Margin for error and flexibility

Due to the dynamic nature of ecosystems and populations, chance plays an important role in the survival of species at risk. While stochastic events tend to balance out in large and healthy populations, they play a prevalent role in population persistence when population numbers are low, as is the case for many species at risk. Thus, because of the stochastic nature of both environmental and demographic events, it is important to use precaution in identifying critical habitat, in order to safeguard against extinction. Incorporating flexibility and redundancy into critical habitat is essential for the recovery of species at risk.

Bigger habitat patches are better than smaller ones

All things being equal, bigger habitat patches are able to support larger populations than smaller patches, and thus they are less likely to go extinct due to stochastic events (MacArthur and Wilson 1967, Goodman 1987, Pimm et al. 1988, Murphy and Noon 1991, Boyce 1992). In addition, larger habitat patches generally have a smaller perimeter to area ratio, and therefore are less susceptible to the negative influence of edge effects such as predation and nest parasitism (Murcia 1995, Kremsater and Bunnell 1999).

Emergency habitat

Under conditions of severe environmental stress, some species may utilise habitat that is not normally used, or that would be considered marginal habitat. The Florida Snail Kite (Rostrhamus sociabilis) is an endangered raptor whose range is restricted to a handful of large wetlands in the Everglades of southern Florida (Sykes 1983). However, during years of severe drought when their preferred wetlands dry out, the Florida Snail Kite moves to permanent lakes and wetlands that otherwise are considered suboptimal habitat (Takekawa and Beissinger 1989). When critical habitat was designated for the Florida Snail Kite in 1977, the importance of these emergency habitats during years of severe drought was unknown, and therefore these refuge areas were not included in the critical habitat designation (Takekawa and Beissinger 1989). In this example, the importance of considering habitat use over time is apparent; investigating habitat use over an adequate time-scale is important for identifying such things as changes in habitat use during times of severe environmental stress. While there is always a level of uncertainty when identifying habitat that is critical to a species survival or recovery, it is valuable to explore the environmental history of an area so that the possibility of changes in habitat use can be examined. In addition, it is important to use precaution when identifying critical habitat. Incorporating flexibility into critical habitat, by providing some slack in the critical habitat network, may help to accommodate an uncertain future. Finally, because ecosystems and habitats are dynamic in both space and time, and because the identification of critical habitat was based on the best available current information, it is important to remember that critical habitat is not set in stone; critical habitat may be modified, as new data becomes available.

Buffers

For some species it may be necessary to include a buffer of unoccupied areas when identifying critical habitat (Carroll et al. 1996). Inclusion of a buffer zone may be particularly important for species that are highly sensitive to external influences such as predation, environmental disturbances, and human activities (Wiens 1996). Buffers are also important when habitat quality is highly dependent on the surrounding landscape (Carroll et al. 1996). Habitat quality for aquatic species, for example, is directly affected by the quality of the upland habitat, particularly upstream from the area in question. Thus, while most species are likely to benefit from incorporating buffers into critical habitat, for both aquatic species and species that are highly sensitive to external influences, it is essential to look at a larger scale (e.g., watersheds) when identifying critical habitat (Carroll et al. 1996).

Redundancy of habitat patches is essential

A certain level of redundancy of habitat patches is required for critical habitat in order to protect the species from extinction due to stochastic environmental events and catastrophes (Gaston et al. 2002, Shaffer et al. 2002). Thus, not only are bigger patches better than smaller patches, but more patches are better than fewer patches. Species will be less susceptible to extinction when critical habitat is distributed over the species' entire geographical range (Noss and Cooperrider 1994, Shaffer et al. 2002). Well-distributed critical habitat will also maximise the probability of capturing intraspecific genetic variation.

VI. Importance of landscape-scale conservation

Recently it has been recognised that species respond not only to within-patch characteristics, but also to habitat at a landscape scale (Turner 1989, Freemark and Collins 1992, Andrén 1994, Freemark et al. 1995, Wiens 1995). Thus, instead of considering only patch size and quality, it is important to consider the amount and quality of habitat in landscapes at larger scales (see Box 2) (Flather and Sauer 1996, Findlay and Houlahan 1997, Jansson and Angelstam 1999, Trzcinski et al. 1999, Villard et al. 1999). The appropriate scale (extent) to consider for the identification of critical habitat depends on the species, as different species respond to the landscape at different scales (Turner 1989, Wiens et al. 1993).

Box 2. Ecosystem and multi-species approaches

Researchers advocate the use of broad-scale, ecosystem or multi-species approaches to biodiversity conservation (Rohlf 1991, Franklin 1993, Orians 1993, Tear et al. 1995, Carroll et al. 1996, Noss et al. 1997, White et al. 1997, Freemark et al. 2002). As the number of endangered and threatened species grows there is an increased realisation that dealing them all on a species-by-species basis is impractical, if not impossible. The Species at Risk Act, in recognising the value of these broad-scale approaches to the conservation of species at risk, states:

The competent minister may adopt a multi-species or an ecosystem approach when preparing the recovery strategy if he or she considers it appropriate to do so [s. 41(3)].

There are several multi-species recovery strategies that currently exist across Canada, including the Sydenham River watershed in Ontario, and the Garry Oak and associated ecosystems in British Columbia. However, despite SARA's explicit statement that multi-species and ecosystem approaches for recovery plans are acceptable, the Act still specifies that critical habitat be identified on a species-by-species basis. Critical habitat must be identified for every endangered, threatened, and extirpated species regardless of whether it is part of a multi-species or ecosystem recovery strategy. Therefore, the habitat needs of each species at risk have to be considered separately. Pursuing these broad-scale recovery strategies, however, is still encouraged as it highlights the importance of considering broader issues of habitat quality and quantity (Carroll et al. 1996). The best way to protect the critical habitat of a species at risk is to protect the entire ecological community of which it is a part (Miller and Douglas 1999). This is especially relevant for rare communities (e.g., Garry Oak ecosystem).

The Critical Habitat Working Group (CHWG) is planning to undertake a literature review that investigates the use of broad-scale recovery strategies for species at risk. The purpose of this literature review is to build the scientific perspective on why broad-scale approaches to species' recovery are appropriate, and to explore the circumstances under which single-species, multi-species, and/or ecosystem recovery strategies should be employed. The results of this literature review will be used to inform the development of policy guidelines for the use of multi-species and ecosystem-based recovery planning.

Landscape-scale issues

Matrix quality

In addition to considering the amount and quality of habitat in a landscape, it is also important to consider the matrix or non-habitat portion of the landscape (Wiens 1996, Ricketts 2001). Habitat does not exist in isolation; it is imbedded in the surrounding matrix.

Modelling studies have indicated that the quality of the matrix may have a large effect on the location of the habitat extinction threshold along the habitat amount axis (Fahrig 2001). This effect of matrix quality on population persistence has important management implications. Improving the quality of the matrix (e.g., reducing pesticide use, increasing heterogeneity, reducing risk of traverse) may reduce the inputs of potentially harmful substances into habitat patches, decrease individual mortality during dispersal (Fahrig 2001), and decrease the resistance of the inter-patch matrix to species' movement (Ricketts 2001), all of which would increase population persistence. For species at risk in which habitat is very limiting (e.g., species at the northern limits of their range, rare species), increasing the quality of the matrix may be a more feasible management option than increasing the amount of habitat available to the species. Increasing the quality of the matrix may decrease the amount of habitat that is required for species' survival or recovery (i.e., critical habitat).

Studying the effects of a heterogeneous matrix is relatively new to landscape ecology, and thus there are few empirical studies that directly test the effect of matrix quality on the distribution and/or abundance of organisms. Dunford (2001) tested the effect of matrix quality, independent of habitat, on forest bird species richness and abundance by selecting landscapes with different amounts of urban areas, and high- and low-intensity agriculture in the matrix. The species richness and abundance of Neotropical migrant, forest interior, and interior-edge birds was found to be greater in forest fragments surrounded by larger proportions of less intensive agriculture in comparison to fragments surrounded by larger proportions of high intensity agriculture or urban areas (Dunford 2001). Similarly, Joly et al. (2001) compared the abundance of three newt species in ponds surrounded by varying amounts of cultivated fields and pastureland. The life cycle of newts requires regular migration between ponds, which are used for breeding and foraging, and forest, which are used for estivation and overwintering. They found that the amount of cultivated field in the surrounding matrix had a negative impact on newt abundance, probably due to an increased mortality in the matrix as individuals move between their aquatic and terrestrial habitats (see landscape connectivity below). These represent two of the first field studies to explicitly test the effects of matrix quality and they show that increasing the quality of the entire landscape mosaic, and not just the habitat patches, can have a positive effect on species' distribution and abundance (and therefore on population persistence).

Landscape connectivity

Landscape connectivity is a measure of landscape structure that has significant implications for species' conservation and management (Wiens 1996). It is a species-specific measure of the extent to which the landscape enhances or inhibits inter-patch movement by individuals (Taylor et al. 1993, Freemark et al. 2002), and is dependent on matrix quality, elements in the

landscape such as corridors that are used for dispersal, and species' behaviour and dispersal ability. This measure of landscape connectivity is sometimes called functional connectivity in order to distinguish it from structural connectivity, which is a measure of habitat contiguity with no consideration given to the species' behavioural response to the landscape (Tischendorf and Fahrig 2000).

In today's fragmented environment, many species exist in habitat patches scattered throughout the landscape. The result of these fragmented landscapes is that many species are dependent on dispersal for population survival (Levins 1969, Taylor et al. 1993, Wiens 1996). Dispersers serve both to re-colonise patches that have gone extinct (Hanski 1999), and to increases the population size of existing habitat patches, thus reducing the chance of local extinction (Brown and Kodric-Brown 1977, Hanski et al. 1996). In addition to its critical role in population dynamics, dispersal is also necessary for maintaining genetic diversity through gene flow, and avoiding the deleterious effects of inbreeding (Pusey and Wolf 1996). When species exist in fragmented landscapes, with habitat patches that are connected via dispersal, critical habitat should include elements of the landscape that are necessary to allow dispersal between these habitat patches to continue.

When identifying critical habitat, habitat patches should be within the dispersal range of the species in question if demographic connections between the patches are to be maintained (Ruggiero et al. 1994). In addition, in order to determine what landscape connectivity means to a particular species it is valuable to have an understanding of the small- and large-scale dispersal behaviour and movement ability of that species through various landscape elements (Tischendorf and Fahrig 2000). Therefore, examining the species' response to such things as corridors, stepping stones, various land-cover types, barriers and patch boundaries may be a useful research area.

Habitat configuration

Modelling studies that have tested the relative effects of habitat loss and habitat configuration (i.e., spatial arrangement of habitat patches) have found that habitat amount has a much larger effect on population persistence than does configuration (Fahrig 1997, 1998, Flather and Bevers 2002). Most empirical studies have corroborated these findings (McGarigal and McComb 1995, Flather and Sauer 1996, Trzcinski et al. 1999). However, the arrangement of the habitat patches in the landscape can be important under certain circumstances (Andrén 1994, Fahrig 1997, 1998, Flather and Bevers 2002). Fahrig (1998) found that when the amount of habitat in the landscape was ≤20%, the importance of habitat configuration on population persistence increased. Similarly, Flather and Bevers (2002) found that when the amount of habitat in the landscape fell below the extinction threshold (~ 30%-50% in their study), habitat configuration played an important role in explaining population size. With less habitat in the landscape, population persistence is uncertain because dispersal mortality in the matrix is increased (Fahrig 2001, Flather et al. 2002). Under these circumstances, landscape configurations that result in aggregated habitat patches may help to ameliorate the negative effects of habitat loss by decreasing dispersal mortality in the matrix (Flather and Bevers 2002). If different configuration options are available for critical habitat, or for habitat restoration, population viability analysis may be a useful tool for exploring/ranking the different options (see Box 1).

Landscape complementation

For species that require more than one type of habitat to complete their life cycle, the configuration of habitat patches can be very important (Dunning et al. 1992). For these species it is necessary to travel between different habitat patches in order to obtain the required resources. This need for different types of habitat patches to be linked through movement is known as landscape complementation (Dunning et al. 1992). When identifying critical habitat for species that rely on landscape complementation, consideration should be given to not only the amount of the different habitat types, but also their spatial arrangement. Generally, landscapes in which the required habitats occur in close proximity will be able to support larger populations than landscapes in which the habitats are farther apart (Dunning et al. 1992). Pope et al. (2000) found that the relative abundance of the Northern Leopard Frog (*Rana pipiens*) was higher in breeding ponds that contained more summer foraging habitat (i.e., higher degree of landscape complementation) within the frog's potential dispersal distance (1 km). Thus, consideration of critical habitat configurations for landscape complementation requires an understanding of the species' dispersal ability.

VII. Summary

Implications for identifying critical habitat under SARA

Best scientific information

When a species is listed under SARA, and recovery strategies and action plans are being developed, the data that are available for most species may not be adequate to allow a clear-cut identification of critical habitat. Thus, for many species at risk, the first step on the road to identifying critical habitat may be the development of research and monitoring programmes geared toward obtaining species-specific information for such things as key habitat attributes, area requirements, demographic parameters such as survival and fecundity, the threats facing the species, and the movement and dispersal ability of the organism. It should be understood from the onset, however, that the information available to identify critical habitat will never be perfect. Nonetheless, the identification of critical habitat should be based on the best scientific information available for a species.

Guiding principles for critical habitat identification

Individual-level needs

The preceding synthesis identifies three fundamental issues that should be considered when identifying critical habitat for species at risk. The first issue to consider is the requirements of individual organisms. In order to identify critical habitat for a species at risk, there should be a solid understanding of what an individual requires to complete its life history. Critical habitat should encompass the mosaic of habitats that a species needs to complete its life

cycle, and it is important that both temporal and demographic differences in habitat requirements are identified. For example, some species use different types of habitat on a daily basis, while others have different habitat requirements for various parts of their life cycle. In addition, habitat requirements may also differ between adults and juveniles and/or between males and females. These contrasting habitat requirements should be recognised, and included as critical habitat.

In addition to considering demographic and temporal differences in habitat requirements when identifying critical habitat, consideration should also be paid to the habitat requirements of species that are dependent on obligate inter-species relationships and/or ecological processes for survival. For example, many plants are dependent on other species for pollination and seed dispersal. The habitat requirements of these pollination and dispersal agents should therefore be considered for inclusion in the critical habitat of the species that depend on them, especially if dispersal or pollination is found to be a limiting factor in the species' recovery. Other species are dependent on habitat that is dynamic, and thus shifts in space over time. For these species, it is important to incorporate, to the extent possible, the natural processes (e.g., fire, flood) in which the species evolved into their critical habitat. The result will be that not all areas identified as critical will contain the required habitat features in every year, but rather critical habitat will consist of a mosaic of habitat patches such that some patches contain the appropriate habitat features at any point in time. These examples highlight the importance of understanding the life history of a species at risk, the community in which it lives, and the natural processes of its habitat.

Population-level needs

Once the habitat requirements of a species at risk are identified at the individual-level, consideration should be paid to the second major issue identified in this literature review: population-level requirements. This jump from the individual-level to the population-level is a crucial one. Critical habitat should be identified at the population-level, and should contain enough habitat (i.e., an area or areas of ample size) for long-term population persistence. Viability assessments (e.g., PVA) can be extremely useful for investigating how different amounts of habitat, and/or their spatial pattern in the landscape, affect a population's viability.

Modelling studies predict that several landscape and species characteristics affect the amount of habitat required for long-term population persistence. Minimum habitat requirements are predicted to increase with decreasing matrix quality, increasing habitat fragmentation, decreasing reproductive rate, decreasing dispersal ability, and increasing rate of emigration. Thus, minimum habitat requirements differ both between species and between regions. Modelling studies however fall short of providing actual minimum habitat-amount requirements. A prediction of minimum habitat-amount requirements for real species requires models that are tailored to particular species. The existence of habitat extinction thresholds, and time lags in species response to habitat loss, makes the determination of minimum habitat-amount requirements more complicated. The current presence of a species or a population does not necessarily mean there is enough habitat for long-term persistence.

Area-sensitivity is another biological consideration of critical habitat that is specific to populations. While area-sensitivity is an individual-level phenomenon, in combination these individual responses to area have population-level effects. At the population-level, demographic (e.g., reproductive success) and distributional (e.g., density) responses to area can create source and sink habitats. It is essential that the more productive source habitats are identified and incorporated into a species' critical habitat.

Another population-level biological consideration for critical habitat identification is the need to incorporate flexibility and redundancy into a species' critical habitat. Because ecosystems and populations are dynamic by nature, chance plays an important role in the survival of species at risk. Thus, to safeguard populations from extinction there is a need to incorporate some slack in the critical habitat network.

Landscape-scale considerations

The importance of landscape-scale considerations to critical habitat identification is the third fundamental issue identified in this literature review. Research has shown that species respond not only to within-patch characteristics, but also to the surrounding landscape. Thus, it is important to look beyond the patch-scale when identifying critical habitat. The quality of the matrix, or non-habitat portion of the landscape, can have a large effect on the amount of habitat required for long-term population persistence. This has important management implications, because for many species at risk increasing the quality of the matrix may be a more feasible management option than increasing the amount of habitat. In addition, for species that exist in fragmented landscapes, with habitat patches connected via dispersal, the matrix has a significant impact on the ability of dispersers to move between habitat patches. These inter-patch movements are critical to the survival of populations that exist as metapopulations, and elements of the landscape that allow the species to maintain these inter-connections should be identified and included as critical habitat. In order to incorporate the landscape elements necessary to maintain connectivity, it is valuable to have knowledge of the small- and large-scale dispersal ability of species through various landscape elements.

Two additional biological considerations for critical habitat identification at the landscapescale are habitat configuration and landscape complementation. While habitat amount has been shown to have a much larger effect on population persistence than habitat configuration, the importance of the spatial arrangement of habitat patches may increase when the amount of habitat in the landscape is low, as is the case for many species at risk. PVA is a useful tool for investigating the effect of different habitat configurations on population persistence or population size.

The configuration of habitat patches in the landscape is also important for species that require more than one type of habitat to complete their life cycle. For species that rely on landscape complementation, the spatial arrangement of habitat patches in the landscape is important for population persistence. Landscapes with the required habitats in close proximity will, in general, support larger populations than landscapes with the required habitat patches spaced farther apart. Consideration of critical habitat configurations for landscape complementation will therefore require an understanding of the species' dispersal ability.

In conclusion, the identification of a species' critical habitat is not set in stone; critical habitat should be seen as a work in progress. SARA states that the identification of critical habitat should be based on the best available information and therefore, as more and better information becomes available for a species at risk, its critical habitat should be modified accordingly. Critical habitat will best function in the recovery of species at risk, if its identification is thought of as an ongoing, adaptable process.

VIII. Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Darren Bender, Dan Bert, Tom Contreras, and Jeff Holland for comments, early on in the writing process, that helped to improve the structure and content of this document. In addition, this review was greatly improved from earlier drafts thanks to comments from Ken Corcoran, Wendy Dunford, Kathy Lindsay, Bob Milko, Kent Prior, Don Rivard, and Mary Rothfels.

IX. References

- Allen, T. F. H., and T. W. Hoekstra. 1992. Toward a unified ecology. Columbia University Press, New York, New York, USA.
- Allen-Wardell, G., P. Bernhardt, R. Bitner, A. Burquez, S. Buchmann, J. Cane, P. A. Cox, V. Dalton, P. Feinsinger, M. Ingram, D. Inouye, C. E. Jones, K. Kennedy, P. Kevan, H. Koopowitz, R. Medellin, S. Medellin-Morales, G. P. Nabhan, B. Pavlik, V. Tepedino, P. Torchio, and S. Walker. 1998. The potential consequences of pollinator declines on the conservation of biodiversity and stability of food crop yields. Conservation Biology 12: 8-17.
- Andelman, S. J., S. Beissinger, J. F. Cochrane, L. Gerber, P. Gomez-Preigo, C. Groves, J. Haufler, R. Holthausen, D. Lee, L. Maguire, B. Noon, K. Ralls, and H. Regan. 2001. Scientific standards for conducting viability assessments under the National Forest Management Act: report and recommendations of the NCEAS working group. National Center for Ecological Analysis and Synthesis, University of California, Santa Barbara, California, USA.
- Andrén, H. 1994. Effects of habitat fragmentation on birds and mammals in landscapes with different proportions of suitable habitat: a review. Oikos **71:** 355-366.
- Bascompte, J., and R. V. Solé. 1996. Habitat fragmentation and extinction thresholds in spatially explicit models. Journal of Animal Ecology **65:** 465-473.
- Beissinger, S. R., and D. R. McCullough, editors. 2002. Population viability analysis. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Illinois, USA.

- Beissinger, S. R., and M. I. Westphal. 1998. On the use of demographic models of population viability in endangered species management. Journal of Wildlife Management **62:** 821-841.
- Bevers, M., and C. H. Flather. 1999. Numerically exploring habitat fragmentation effects on populations using cell-based coupled map lattices. Theoretical Population Biology **55**: 61-76.
- Boyce, M. S. 1992. Population viability analysis. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 23: 481-506.
- Bright, P. W., P. Mitchell, and P. A. Morris. 1994. Dormouse distribution: survey techniques, insular ecology and selection of sites for conservation. Journal of Applied Ecology **31**: 329-339.
- Brook, B. W., M. A. Burgman, H. R. Akçakaya, J. J. O'Grady, and R. Frankham. 2002. Critiques of PVA ask the wrong questions: throwing the heuristic baby out with the numerical bath water. Conservation Biology **16:** 262-263.
- Brown, J. H., and A. Kodric-Brown. 1977. Turnover rates in insular biogeography: effect of immigration on extinction. Ecology **58:** 445-449.
- Brownell, V. R. 1981. Status report on the Small White Lady's Slipper (*Cypripeduim Candidum*) in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC). Ottawa, Ontario. 57 pp.
- Burgman, M. A., S. Ferson, and H. R. Akçakaya. 1993. Risk assessment in conservation biology. Chapman & Hall, London, UK.
- Cadman, M. D. 1991. Updated status report on the Loggerhead Shrike (eastern population) (*Lanius ludovicianus migrans*) in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC). Ottawa, Ontario. 17 pp.
- Campbell, C. A., and G. R. Donaldson. 1991. Draft status report on the eastern Spiny Softshell Turtle (*Apalone spinifera*) in Canada. Revised and updated by M. E. Obbard. A draft report. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC). Ottawa, Ontario. 61 pp.
- Carr, L. W., and L. Fahrig. 2001. Effect of road traffic on two amphibian species of differing vagility. Conservation Biology **15:** 1071-1078.
- Carroll, R., C. Augspurger, A. Dobson, J. Franklin, G. Orians, W. Reid, R. Tracy, D.
 S. Wilcove, and J. Wilson. 1996. Strengthening the use of science in achieving the goals of the Endangered Species Act: an assessment by the Ecological Society of America. Ecological Applications 6: 1-11.
- Chapin, T. G., D. J. Harrison, and D. D. Katnik. 1998. Influence of landscape pattern on habitat use by American martin in an industrial forest. Conservation Biology 12:

- 1327-1337.
- Coulson, T., G. M. Mace, E. Hudson, and H. Possingham. 2001. The use and abuse of population viability analysis. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 16: 219-221.
- Csotonyi, J. T., and D. Hurlburt. 2000. Updated status report on Soapweed (*Yucca Glauca*) in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC). Ottawa, Ontario. 16 pp.
- Doncaster, C. P., T. Micol, and S. P. Jensen. 1996. Determining minimum habitat requirements in theory and practice. Oikos **75:** 335-339.
- Donovan, T. M., and R. H. Lamberson. 2001. Area-sensitive distributions counteract negative effects of habitat fragmentation on breeding birds. Ecology **82:** 1170-1179.
- Donovan, T. M., F. R. Thompson, J. Faaborg, and J. R. Probst. 1995. Reproductive success of migratory birds in habitat sources and sinks. Conservation Biology **9:** 1380-1395.
- Dunford, W. 2001. Effects of agricultural and urban land uses on birds breeding in forest fragments near Ottawa, Ontario. M. S. Thesis. Carleton University, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada.
- Dunning, J. B., B. J. Danielson, and H. R. Pulliam. 1992. Ecological processes that affect populations in complex landscapes. Oikos **65:** 169-175.
- Dytham, C. 1995. The effect of habitat destruction pattern on species persistence: a cellular model. Oikos **74**: 340-344.
- Ehrlich, P. R., and A. H. Ehrlich. 1981. Extinction: the causes and consequences of the disappearance of species. Random House, New York, New York, USA.
- Ellner, S. P., J. Fieberg, D. Ludwig, and C. Wilcox. 2002. Precision of population viability analysis. Conservation Biology **16:** 258-261.
- Endangered Species Act. 1988. Endangered Species Act of 1973. As amended through the 100th Congress. United States Fish and Wildlife Service, United States Department of the Interior. Washington, D.C., USA.
- Eriksson, O., and K. Kiviniemi. 1999. Site occupancy, recruitment and extinction thresholds in grassland plants: an experimental study. Biological Conservation 87: 319-325.
- Fahrig, L. 1997. Relative effects of habitat loss and fragmentation on population extinction. Journal of Wildlife Management **61:** 603-610.
- Fahrig, L. 1998. When does fragmentation of breeding habitat affect population survival? Ecological Modelling **105**: 273-292.

- Fahrig, L. 2001. How much habitat is enough? Biological Conservation 100: 65-74.
 Findlay, C. S., and J. Houlahan. 1997. Anthropogenic correlates of species richness in southeastern Ontario wetlands. Conservation Biology 11: 1000-1009.
- Flather, C. H., and M. Bevers. 2002. Patchy reaction-diffusion and population abundance: the relative importance of habitat amount and arrangement. American Naturalist **159**: 40-56.
- Flather, C. H., M. Bevers, E. Cam, J. Nichols, and J. Sauer. In prep. Habitat arrangement and extinction thresholds: do forest birds conform to model predictions?
- Flather, C. H., and J. R. Sauer. 1996. Using landscape ecology to test hypotheses about large-scale abundance patterns in migratory birds. Ecology 77: 28-35.
- Franklin, J. F. 1993. Preserving biodiversity: species, ecosystems, or landscapes? Ecological Applications **3:** 202-205.
- Freemark, K., D. Bert, and M.-A. Villard. 2002. Patch-, landscape-, and regional-scale effects on biota. Pages 58-83 in K. J. Gutzwiller, editor. Applying landscape ecology in biological conservation. Springer-Verlag, New York, New York, USA.
- Freemark, K., and B. Collins. 1992. Landscape ecology of birds breeding in temperate forest fragments. Pages 443-454 *in* J. M. Hagan III and D. W. Johnston, editors. Ecology and conservation of neotropical migrant landbirds. Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, D.C., USA.
- Freemark, K. E., J. B. Dunning, S. J. Hejl, and J. R. Probst. 1995. A landscape ecology perspective for research, conservation, and management. Pages 381-427 in T. E. Martin, and D. M. Finch, editors. Ecology and management of neotropical migratory birds: a synthesis and review of critical issues. Oxford University Press, New York, New York, USA.
- Fuchs, M. A., R. Bennett, L. Blight, C. Bryce, B. Costanzo, M. Dunn, T. Ennis, M. Fairbarns,
 - R., Feldman, D. F. Fraser, H. J. Gibbard, T. Gillespie, R. Hebda, A. MacDougall, D. Maslovat, M. D. Meagher, A. Pollard, B. Reader, A. Robinson, J. W. Rutter, G. P. Sirk, K.
 - Stewart. 2002. Draft National Recovery Strategy for Garry Oak and Associated Ecosystems and their Associated Ecosystems at Risk. A draft report. Recovery of Nationally Endangered Wildlife (RENEW). Ottawa, Ontario. 191 pp.
- Gaston, K. J., R. L. Pressey, and C. R. Margules. 2002. Persistence and vulnerability: retaining biodiversity in the landscape and in protected areas. Journal of Biosciences (Suppl. 2) 27: 361-384.
- Gibbs, J. P. 1998. Distribution of woodland amphibians along a forest fragmentation gradient. Landscape Ecology 13: 263-268.

- Gilpin, M. E., and M. E. Soulé. 1986. Minimum viable populations: processes of species extinction. Pages 19-34 *in* M. E. Soulé, editor. Conservation biology: the science of scarcity and diversity. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, Massachusetts, USA.
- Goodman, D. 1987. The demography of chance extinction. Pages 11-34 in M. E. Soulé, editor. Viable populations for conservation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Groombridge, B., editor. 1992. Global biodiversity: status of the earth's living resources. Chapman and Hall, London, UK.
- Haag, W. R., and M. L. Warren Jr. 1999. Mantle displays of freshwater mussels elicit attacks from fish. Freshwater Biology **42:** 35-40.
- Hall, L. S., P. R. Krausman, and M.L. Morrison. 1997. The habitat concept and a plea for standard terminology. Wildlife Society Bulletin **25:** 173-182.
- Hanksi, I. 1999. Metapopulation Ecology. Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK.
- Hanski, I., A. Moilanen, and M. Gyllenberg. 1996. Minimum viable metapopulation size. American Naturalist **147**: 527-541.
- Hayden, T. J., J. Faaborg, and R. L. Clawson. 1985. Estimates of minimum area requirements for Missouri forest birds. Transactions of the Missouri Academy of Science 19: 11-22.
- Holland, J. 2003. Factors affecting the extinction threshold and scale of habitat interactions in Cerambycid beetles. Ph. D. Thesis. Carleton University, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada.
- Hughes, L. 2000. Biological consequences of global warming: is the signal already present? Trends in Ecology and Evolution **15:** 56-61.
- Jansson, G., and P. Angelstam. 1999. Threshold levels of habitat composition for the presence of the long-tailed tit (*Aegithalos caudatus*) in a boreal landscape. Landscape Ecology **14:** 283-290.
- Johnson D. H., and L. D. Igl. 2001. Area requirements of grassland birds: a regional perspective. Auk **118**: 24-34.
- Joly, P., C. Miaud, A. Lehmann, and O. Grolet. 2001. Habitat matrix effects on pond occupancy in newts. Conservation Biology **15:** 239-248.
- Kareiva, P., and U. Wennergren. 1995. Connecting landscape patterns to ecosystem and population processes. Nature **373**: 299-302.
- Kearns, C. A., and D. W. Inouye. 1997. Pollinators, flowering plants, and conservation biology: much remains to be learned about pollinators and plants. BioScience 47:

- 297-307.
- Kremsater, L., and F. L. Bunnell. 1999. Edge effects: theory, evidence and implications to management of western North American forests. Pages 117-153 in J. A. Rochelle, L. A. Lehmann, and J. Wisniewski, editors. Forest fragmentation: wildlife and management implications. Brill Academic Publishers, Leiden, The Netherlands
- Lande, R. 1987. Extinction thresholds in demographic models of territorial populations. American Naturalist **130**: 624-635.
- Lande, R. 1988. Demographic models of the northern spotted owl (*Strix occidentalis caurina*). Oecologia **75**: 601-607.
- Lande, R. 1998. Anthropogenic, ecological and genetic factors in extinction and conservation. Researches on Population Ecology **40**: 259-269.
- Levins, R. 1969. Some demographic and genetic consequences of environmental heterogeneity for biological control. Bulletin of the Entomological Society of America **15**: 237-240.
- Ludwig, D. 1999. Is it meaningful to estimate a probability of extinction? Ecology **80**: 298-310.
- MacArthur, R. H., and E. O. Wilson. 1967. The theory of island biogeography. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey, USA.
- McGarigal, K., and W. C. McComb. 1995. Relationships between landscape structure and breeding birds in the Oregon Coast Range. Ecological Monographs **65**: 235-260.
- McMahon, R. F. 1991. Mollusca: Bivalva. Pages 315-390 in J. H. Thorp and A. P. Covich, editors. Ecology and classification of North American freshwater invertebrates. Academic Press, San Diego, California, USA.
- Menges, E. S. 2000. Population viability analyses in plants: challenges and opportunities. Trends in Ecology and Evolution **15:** 51-56.
- Miller, M. T., and G. W. Douglas. 1999. Status of Lyall's Mariposa Lily (*Calochortus Lyalli*) (Liliaceae) in Canada. The Canadian Field-Naturalist **113**: 652-658.
- Murcia, C. 1995. Edge effects in fragmented forest: implications for conservation. Trends in Ecology and Evolution **10:** 58-62.
- Murphy, D. D., and B. D. Noon. 1991. Coping with uncertainty in wildlife biology. Journal of Wildlife Management **55:** 773-782.
- Noss, R. F. 2002. Context matters: considerations for large-scale conservation. Conservation In Practice **3:** 10-19.

- Noss, R. F., and A. Y. Cooperrider. 1994. Saving nature's legacy: protecting and restoring biodiversity. Island Press, Washington, D.C., USA.
- Noss, R. F, M. A. O'Connell, and D. D. Murphy. 1997. The science of conservation planning: habitat conservation under the Endangered Species Act. Island Press, Washington, D.C., USA.
- Orians, G. H. 1993. Endangered at what level? Ecological Applications 3: 206-208.
- Pagel, M., and R. J. H. Payne. 1996. How migration affects estimation of the extinction threshold. Oikos **76:** 323-329.
- Parmesan, C., N. Ryrholm, C. Stefanescu, J. K. Hill, C. D. Thomas, H. Descimon, B. Huntley, L. Kaila, J. Kullberg, T. Tammaru, W. J. Tennent, J. A. Thomas, and M. Warren. 1999. Poleward shifts in geographical ranges of butterfly species associated with regional warming. Nature **399**: 579-583.
- Phelps, A. 2001. A critical habitat definition for Fisheries and Oceans Canada (D.F.O): a discussion paper. Fisheries and Oceans Canada.
- Pimm, S. L. 2001. Entrepreneurial insects. Nature 411: 531-532.
- Pimm, S. L., H. L. Jones, and J. Diamond. 1988. On the risk of extinction. American Naturalist 132: 757-785.
- Pope, S. E., L. Fahrig, and H. G. Merriam. 2000. Landscape complementation and metapopulation effects on leopard frog populations. Ecology **81:** 2498-2508.
- Porneluzi, P., J. C. Bednarz, L. Goodrich, N. Zawada, and J. Hoover. 1993.

 Reproductive performance of territorial Ovenbirds occupying forest fragments and a contiguous forest in Pennsylvania. Conservation Biology 7: 618-622.
- Prior, K., R. Black, K. Ceder, K. Frohlich, B. Gray, B. Johnson, J. Middleton, C. Parent, F. Burrows, P. Pratt, D. Upton, A. Yagi, and P. Zorn. 2002. Draft National Recovery Plan for the Eastern Massasauga Rattlesnake (Sistrurus catenatus catenatus). A draft report. Recovery of Nationally Endangered Wildlife (RENEW). Ottawa, Ontario. 53 pp.
- Pulliam, H. R. 1988. Sources, sinks, and population regulation. American Naturalist **132:** 652-661.
- Purcell, K. L., and J. Verner. 1998. Density and reproductive success of California Towhees. Conservation Biology 12: 442-450.
- Pusey, A., and M. Wolf. 1996. Inbreeding avoidance in animals. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 11: 201-206
- Reed, J. M., L. S. Mills, J. B. Dunning Jr., E. S. Menges, K. S. McKelvey, R. Frye, S. R.

- Beissinger, M.-C. Anstett, and P. Miller. 2002. Emerging issues in population viability analysis. Conservation Biology **16:** 7-19.
- Reed, J. M., D. D. Murphy, and P. F. Brussard. 1998. Efficacy of population viability analysis. Wildlife Society Bulletin **26:** 244-251.
- Ricketts, T. H. 2001. The matrix matters: effective isolation in fragmented landscapes. American Naturalist **158:**87-99.
- Robbins, C. S., D. K. Dawson, and B. A. Dowell. 1989. Habitat area requirements of breeding forest birds of the Middle Atlantic states. Wildlife Monographs 103: 1-34.
- Robinson, S. K., F. R. Thompson III, T. M. Donovan, D. R. Whitehead, and J. Faaborg. 1995. Regional forest fragmentation and the nesting success of migratory birds. Science 267: 1987-1990.
- Rohlf, D. J. 1991. Six biological reasons why the Endangered Species Act doesn't work and what to do about it. Conservation Biology **5:** 273-282.
- Ruggiero, L. F., G. D. Hayward, and J. R. Squires. 1994. Viability analysis in biological evaluations: concepts of population viability analysis, biological population, and ecological scale. Conservation Biology 8: 364-372.
- Rye, L., and W. F. Weller. 2002. Draft status report on the Jefferson Salamander (*Ambystoma jeffersonianum*) in Canada. A draft report. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC). Ottawa, Ontario. 25pp.
- Shaffer, M., L. H. Watchman, W. J. Snape III, and I. K. Latchis. 2002. Population viability analysis and conservation policy. Pages 123-142 *in* S. R. Beissinger and D. R. McCullough, editors. Population viability analysis. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, USA.
- Soulé, M. E, editor. 1987. Viable populations for conservation. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Species at Risk Act. 2003. An Act respecting the protection of wildlife species at risk in Canada. Ottawa, Ontario, Canada.
- Sykes, P. W., Jr. 1983. Snail Kite use of the freshwater marshes of South Florida. Florida Field Naturalist 11: 73-87.
- Takekawa, J. E., and S. R. Beissinger. 1989. Cyclic drought, dispersal, and the conservation of the Snail Kite in Florida: lessons in critical habitat. Conservation Biology **3:** 302-311.
- Taylor, P. D., L. Fahrig, K. Henein, and G. Merriam. 1993. Connectivity is a vital element of landscape structure. Oikos **68:** 571-573.

- Tear, T. H., J. M. Scott, P. H. Hayward, and B. Griffith. 1995. Recovery plans and the Endangered Species Act: are criticisms supported by the data? Conservation Biology 9: 182-195.
- Tilman, D., R. M. May, C. L. Lehman, and M. A. Nowak. 1994. Habitat destruction and the extinction debt. Nature **371**: 65-66.
- Tischendorf, L., and L. Fahrig. 2000. On the usage and measurement of landscape connectivity. Oikos **90:** 7-19.
- Trzcinski, M. K., L. Fahrig, and G. Merriam. 1999. Independent effects of forest cover and fragmentation on the distribution of forest breeding birds. Ecological Applications 9: 586-593.
- Turner, M. G. 1989. Landscape ecology: the effect of pattern on process. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics **20**: 171-197.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 2001. Endangered and threatened wildlife and plants; proposed designation of critical habitat for the northern Great Plains breeding population of the piping plover; proposed rule. Federal Register **66**: 31760-31815.
- Vance, M. D. 2002. Relationship between minimum habitat requirements and annual reproductive rates in forest breeding birds. M. S. Thesis. Carleton University, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada.
- Van Horne, B. 1983. Density as a misleading indicator of habitat quality. Journal of Wildlife Management 47: 893-901.
- Vickery, P. D., M. L. Hunter, and J. V. Wells. 1992. Is density an indicator of breeding success? Auk **109**: 706-710.
- Villard, M.-A., P. R. Martin, C. G. Drummond. 1993. Habitat fragmentation and pairing success in the Ovenbird (*Seiurus aurocapillus*). Auk **110:** 759-768.
- Villard, M.-A., M. K. Trzcinski, and G. Merriam. 1999. Fragmentation effects on forest birds: relative influence of woodland cover and configuration on landscape occupancy. Conservation Biology 13: 774-783.
- Walk, J. W., and R. E. Warner. 1999. Effects of habitat area on the occurrence of grassland birds in Illinois. American Midland Naturalist **141**: 339-344.
- Warren, M. S., J. K. Hill, J. A. Thomas, J. Asher, R. Fox, B. Huntley, D. B. Roy, M. G. Telfer, S. Jeffcoate, P. Harding, G. Jeffcoate, S. G. Willis, J. N. Greatorex-Davies, D. Moss, and C. D. Thomas. 2001. Rapid responses of British butterflies to opposing forces of climate and habitat change. Nature 414: 65-68.
- Watson, E. T., J. L. Metcalfe-Smith, and J. Di Maio. 2001. Draft status report on the Mudpuppy Mussel (*Simpsonaias ambigua*) in Canada. A draft report. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC). Ottawa, Ontario. 46 pp.

- Wenny, D. G., R. L. Clawson, J. Faaborg, S. L. Sheriff. 1993. Population density, habitat selection and minimum area requirements of three forest-interior warblers in central Missouri. Condor **95**: 968-979.
- Whitcomb, R. F., C. S. Robbins, J. F. Lynch, B. L. Whitcomb, K. Klimkiewicz, and D. Bystrak. 1981. Effects of forest fragmentation on avifauna of the eastern deciduous forest. Pages 125-205 in R. L. Burgess and D. M. Sharpe, editors. Forest island dynamics in man-dominated landscapes. Springer-Verlag, New York, New York, USA.
- White, D., E. M. Preston, K. E. Freemark, and A. R. Kiester. 1999. A hierarchical framework for conserving biodiversity. Pages 127-153 in J. M. Klopatek, and R. H. Gardner, editors. Landscape ecological analysis: issues and applications. Springer-Verlag, New York, New York, USA.
- Wiens, J. A. 1995. Landscape mosaics and ecological theory. Pages 1-26 in L. Hansson, L. Fahrig, and G. Merriam, editors. Mosaic landscapes and ecological processes. Chapman and Hall, London, UK.
- Wiens, J. A. 1996. Wildlife in patchy environments: metapopulations, mosaics, and management. Pages 53-84 in D. R. McCullough, editor. Metapopulations and wildlife conservation. Island Press, Washington, D.C., USA.
- Wiens, J. A., N. C. Stenseth, B. Van Horne, and R. A. Ims. 1993. Ecological mechanisms and landscape ecology. Oikos **66:** 369-380.
- Willis, C. K. R., and M L. Bast. 1999. Update status report for the Pallid Bat (*Antrozous pallidus*) in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC). Ottawa, Ontario. 28 pp.
- Wilson, E. O. 1992. The diversity of life. Belknap Press of Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, USA.
- Winter, M., and J. Faaborg. 1999. Patterns of area sensitivity in grassland-nesting birds. Conservation Biology **13:** 1424-1436.
- With, K. A., and A. W. King. 1999. Extinction thresholds for species in fractal landscapes. Conservation Biology 13: 314-326.